FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON als
10/18/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON gton
CLERK AM

**No**. 102484-3

### (COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 84660-4-1)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE NURSES ASSOCIATION, UFCW 3000 and SEIU HEALTHCARE 1199NW,

Respondent,

v.

#### MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM,

Appellant.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Danielle Franco-Malone, WSBA #40979
Alyssa Garcia, WSBA #55731
BARNARD IGLITZIN & LAVITT LLP
18 W Mercer St, Suite 400
Seattle, WA 98119
Tel: (206) 257-6011
franco@workerlaw.com
garcia@workerlaw.com

Attorneys for WSNA, UFCW 3000, and SEIU 1199NW

### **

#### INTRODUCTION

As a matter of first impression, Division One interpreted WAC 296-126-030 in a way that will render the regulation effectively null and void. Division One interpreted the terms "infrequent" and "inadvertent" so broadly that the regulation's exception to the prohibition on wage deductions would become the general rule.

WAC 296-126-030 is the only authority governing how private employers may respond when they erroneously overpay wages. This case has the potential to have far-reaching consequences for employees because it is the only case in which a court has interpreted the regulation.

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because Division One: (1) erroneously interpreted the regulation in a manner that does not comport with the underlying statutes and plain text, (2) remanded the case for resolution by a jury although there are no material facts in dispute, in contravention of long-standing precedent from this

Court, and (3) erroneously shifted the burden WAC 296-126-030 imposes on employers onto employees.

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioners are the Washington State Nurses Association, UFCWLocal 3000, and SEIU Healthcare 1 199NW (collectively, the Unions).

#### COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On September 18, 2023, Division One issued a published decision, holding that genuine issues of material fact required a trial on whether MultiCare's overpayments were "infrequent" and "inadvertent." It also held that the Unions were not estopped from bringing their claims under WAC 296-126-030, and that the National Labor Relations Act did not preempt Plaintiffs claims.

Appendix A (Division One Opinion) ("Op.") (WSNA, UFCW 3000, and SEIU Healthcare 1199NW v. MultiCare Health System, 535 P.3d 480 (Wash. 2023)).

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Division One err in holding that a wage

overpayment will be considered "inadvertent" unless an employer specifically intended to bring about an overpayment to particular employees, and by failing to find that MultiCare's overpayments were not "inadvertent" as a matter of law?

- 2. Did Division One err by interpreting "infrequent" in an overbroad manner with a strict, temporal requirement, and by failing to find that MultiCare's overpayments were not "infrequent" as a matter of law?
- 3. Did Division One err by remanding when there are no material facts in dispute for a factfinder to resolve and the only determination left is to apply undisputed facts to the legal standard?
- 4. Did Division One err by shifting the burden imposed on employers under WAC 296-126-030 to prove that an overpayment was both "infrequent" and "inadvertent" onto employees?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After a cyberattack rendered its payroll system inoperable, MultiCare implemented a "business continuity plan" that involved paying employees, for four pay periods spanning eight weeks, a static amount representing an estimate of their earnings based on their most recent paycheck. CP 131, 192, 303.

While implementing its "business continuity plan," MultiCare repeatedly announced that employees would receive overpayments. CP 135 (acknowledging that pay "may not be a close representation" of actual wages owed); CP 140 ("It is possible that some staff may receive more or less pay than they are actually owed during a downtime pay period.").

MultiCare even issued multiple overpayments to employees it knew were not working at all. CP 73, 226–28 (parental leave); CP 84–85 (medical leave); CP 281–83 (left employment); CP 241–42 (not scheduled to work for three pay periods). MultiCare continued to overpay employees even after employees notified it of the overpayments and asked it to stop.

CP 241–42, CP 262, CP 291–92, CP 73. In some instances, MultiCare initially corrected the overpayments then reverted to the original overpayments for subsequent paychecks. CP 262–63, CP 240–41.

As a result of its decision to process payroll by copying the pay issued to employees during the pay period immediately preceding the cyberattack, employees predictably were paid inaccurately—some overpaid and some underpaid—over the course of eight weeks. CP 166-68. After Kronos came back online, MultiCare identified which employees it claimed had been underpaid and overpaid and announced its intent to recoup overpayments. CP 160, 163. It subsequently sent notifications to employees, identifying the amount of the initial payment, the amount it claimed was actually owed, and the amount the employee had allegedly been overpaid, but with no itemized breakdown. CP 163. Many of the total overpayment amounts MultiCare planned to recoup were thousands of dollars. CP 276 (alleged overpayment of \$14,520.12); CP 292 (\$9,914.82); CP 242 (\$5,933.00); CP 73 (\$11,819.52).

Several employees had concerns about the accuracy of the claimed overpayments. CP 264 (employee identified discrepancies likely due to not accounting for overtime, sick leave usage, and standby pay); CP 242 (employee identified discrepancies for failure to include incentive pay); CP 99–100 (same). In light of these concerns, employees requested additional information or explanations, but did not receive adequate or timely responses, even when the employee's supervisor acknowledged the inaccuracy of the overpayment amount. CP 243, 264–65.

The Unions, which serve as the exclusive collective bargaining representatives for thousands of MultiCare employees, sued MultiCare seeking injunctive relief to prohibit MultiCare from proceeding to recoup overpayments through unauthorized wage deductions and declaratory relief that

MultiCare's planned deductions violated WAC 296-126-030 and RCW 49.52.050(2).

On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court found that MultiCare could not recoup overpayments using unauthorized wage deductions because the overpayments were not infrequent or inadvertent. CP 613. The court reasoned:

I'm persuaded that [] the way MultiCare reads "inadvertent and infrequent" makes the regulation essentially null and void. ... you could drive a truck through the hole that's left by [] that interpretation of it. Inadvertent and infrequent has to mean something other than systematically paying thousands of employees on a regular basis... [A]dmittedly, [] MultiCare didn't know for sure exactly who was being overpaid and who was being underpaid [] but they knew that [] this was going to happen, [] and the regulation basically transfers the responsibility for correcting that to the employer rather than the employee. And the employer can either get the employee to agree do it, or they can seek action— you know, take legal action on an individual basis, but they can't simply use the adjustment mechanism that exists in the regulation with— on this kind of a scale because it's not inadvertent and it's not infrequent. It doesn't meet the definitions of those terms as set forth in the regulation.

RP 29:5–24. The court enjoined MultiCare from deducting overpayment amounts "without first obtaining employee consent, pursuant to WAC 296-126-030." CP 613.

On appeal, Division One reversed, finding that there were material issues of fact in dispute as to whether the overpayments were "infrequent" and "inadvertent."

This petition for review followed.

#### **GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

- I. Division One's Interpretation Renders WAC 296-126-030 Effectively Null And Deprives Workers Of Any Protections When Their Employer Seeks To Recoup An Overpayment.
  - A. Division One's interpretation does not comport with Washington's worker-protective statutory scheme.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b) because this case involves a question of substantial public interest concerning wage protections for workers and a matter of first impression.

See e.g. Bostain v. Food Exp., Inc., 159 Wn.2d 700, 153 P.3d 846 (2007) (Court granted review, interpreting the overtime provision of the Washington Minimum Wage Act as a matter of

first impression). WAC 296-126-030 is the only authority that governs how wage overpayments are resolved for private employers and Division One's opinion is the lone authority interpreting the WAC.

This Court has held that the state's "long and proud history of being a pioneer in the protection of employee rights" is established through its worker-protective wage statutes, including Ch. 49.12 (minimum wages), Ch. 49.48 (wage payment and collection), and Ch. 49.52 (prohibition and penalties for wage withholding). *Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsys.*, *Inc.*, 140 Wn.2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582 (2000). "This comprehensive legislative system with respect to [employee] wages indicates a strong legislative intent to assure payment to employees of wages they have earned." *Schilling v. Radio Holdings*, *Inc.*, 136 Wn.2d 152, 159, 961 P.2d 371 (1998).

The regulation at issue was adopted pursuant to these worker-protective statutes. *See* Statutory Authority, WAC 296-126-030 (additionally citing RCW 43.22.270). WAC 296-126-

**030** is premised upon the longstanding general rule that employers are prohibited from diverting any portion of employee wages unless the deduction is agreed upon by the employee or otherwise permitted by law. RCW 49.48.010(3). And employers may not "collect or receive from any employee a rebate of any part of wages" paid to an employee. RCW 49.52.050(1). Instead of utilizing deductions, the default remedies for an employer to recover an overpayment are to obtain employee consent for a RCW deduction initiate litigation. 49.48.**11**(3)(b) (deductions unlawful unless "specifically agreed upon orally or in writing by the employee and employer"); Cameron v. Neon Sky, Inc., 41 Wn. App. 219, 223, 703 P.2d 315 (1985).

This Court has recognized that the "fundamental purpose of" the prohibition on deductions established by RCW 49.52.050 "is to protect the wages of an employee against any diminution or deduction therefrom by rebating, underpayment, or *false showing of overpayment* of any part of such wages. The act is thus primarily a protective measure . . . to see that the employee

shall realize the full amount of the wages... "Schilling, 136 Wn.2d at 159 (citing State v. Carter, 18 Wn.2d 590, 621, 140 P.2d 98 (1943)) (emphasis added). Thus, the statute "must be liberally construed to advance the Legislature's intent to protect employee wages and assure payment." Id. Washington courts have repeatedly found that this liberal construction principle extends to accompanying regulations. See Hill v. Xerox Bus. Servs., LLC, 191 Wn.2d 751, 762–63, 426 P.3d 703 (2018); Silverstreak, Inc. v. Wash. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 159 Wn.2d 868, 882, 154 P.3d 891 (2007).

WAC 296-126-030 must be liberally construed in furtherance of the Legislature's worker-protective aims. When faced with competing interpretations of the meal break regulation under the same WAC chapter, WAC 296-126-092, this Court chose the interpretation that "ultimately provides greater protection for workers," finding that such interpretation was "more in tune with other Washington case law addressing

employee rights." *Brady v. Autozone Stores, Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 576, 583, 397 P.3d 120 (2017).

Moreover, when the Legislature intends a statute and accompanying regulations to be liberally construed, "its exceptions [must] be narrowly confined." *Nucleonics All., Local Union No. 1-369 v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 101 Wn.2d 24, 29, 677 P.2d 108 (1984); *see also Drinkwitz*, 140 Wn.2d at 301 ("Exemptions from remedial legislation . . . are narrowly construed and applied only to situations which are plainly and unmistakably consistent with the terms and spirit of the legislation.").

WAC 296-126-030(4) is thus a narrow exception to the general prohibition on wage deductions. The regulation allows

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Indeed, given the strict prohibition on unauthorized wage deductions, it is unclear whether the Department's adoption of WAC 296-126-030 is permissible at all. Notably, in *Cameron*, an employer was found to have violated RCW 49.48.010's prohibition on wage deductions even though it was undisputed that a large overpayment had been made as a result of a restaurant manager, without his employer's authorization, directing the

employers to utilize otherwise prohibited wage deductions to "recover an overpayment from an employee's paycheck provided that the overpayment was infrequent and inadvertent." WAC 296-126-030(4). A liberal construction consistent with Washington's worker-protective statutory scheme requires a narrow interpretation of the "infrequent and inadvertent" requirements.

Division One ignored the underlying policy of the workerprotective wage statutes and the liberal construction principle by adopting an interpretation of WAC 296-126-030(4) that would

-

bank to increase his wages. *Cameron*, 41 Wn. App. at 222. Even in this situation, where the employer bore no fault and, indeed, had been stolen from, the statutory prohibition on unauthorized wage deductions prohibited the employer from making a wage deduction to recoup the overpayment and the employer's remedy was to initiate litigation "instead of taking matters into their hands by deducting part of [the employee's] wages for the alleged "overpayment." *Id.* at 223. This Court has subsequently interpreted *Cameron* for the proposition that a private employer "must bring suit to collect on alleged [overpayments] owed by an employee to the employer." *State v. Adams*, 107 Wn.2d 611, 619, 732 P.2d 149 (1987).

effectively allow the regulation's narrow exception to swallow the general prohibition on wage deductions.

In particular, Division One erred in its interpretation of the "infrequent" and "inadvertent" requirements of WAC 296-126-030(4) by misreading a temporal requirement into the "frequency" prong and defining "inadvertent" with a specific intent standard.

If this interpretation stands, employers could knowingly pay employees inaccurately and then have unfettered discretion to deduct wages from future paychecks. Employees all across the state could have wages deducted from their paychecks without having any say or opportunity to verify the overpayment calculations, forcing employees to bear the harsh consequences of their employer's errors. *See* Washington House Bill Report, 2003 Reg. Sess. H.B. 1738 (noting that "Last year there were over 1,200 overpayments of wages to state employees.").

B. Division One erred in holding that an employer can prove that an overpayment was "inadvertent" by showing it did not specifically

# intend to overpay a particular employee by a particular amount.

Division One erred holding 111 an employer's overpayments are necessarily inadvertent unless the employer specifically intended to overpay an employee. See e.g. Op. at p. 16 (holding that it is an issue of material fact "whether MultiCare had 'full awareness' both about the possibility of overpayments in general and about details of any overpayments of any particular employee."), 14 (question of fact as to whether overpayment was unintentional because MultiCare did not "wish 'to bring about' an overpayment"). In other words, the panel found that the "inadvertent" element will be satisfied unless an employer *meant* to overpay a particular employee by a particular amount.

The panel's holding is inconsistent with the language of the regulation, which itself defines inadvertence as "an *error* that was accidental, unintentional, or not deliberately done." WAC 296-126-030 (emphasis added) (also noting that the "burden of proving the *inadvertent error* rests with the employer who made

the error.") (emphasis added). By definition, an error is a mistake. The panel erred in construing "inadvertence" as being met unless the employer specifically intended for particular employees to be overpaid by a particular amount, because such an overpayment would not be a "mistake." Rather, the regulatory text evinces that an inadvertent overpayment is one resulting a clerical error, such as an employer that mistakenly misreads a 6 as a 9, *not* an employer that systematically pays employees based on an estimate that it knows will result in a large number of overpayments.

The panel's holding is inconsistent with previous holdings of this Court that "[i]ntent is not [] limited to consequences which are desired" and includes acting with knowledge that certain consequences will result from certain actions. *Bradley v. Am. Smelting & Ref. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 677, 682, 709 P.2d 782 (1985) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 8A cmt. b (Am. Law Inst. 1965)). "If the actor knows that the consequences are certain, or substantially certain, to result from his act, and still

goes ahead, he is treated by the law as if he had in fact desired to produce the result." *Id*.

Specifically, in the worker protection context, this Court has evaluated whether nonpayment of wages was "willful" for purposes of RCW 49.52.050 and .070, imposing civil and criminal penalties. Schilling, 136 Wn.2d at 159–60. The Court determined that "[c]arelessness or inadvertence negates the willfulness necessary to invoke double damages under RCW 49.52.070 when the employer's failure to pay wages involves a legitimate error or inadvertence." *Id.* at 161. However, the Court concluded that the employer's actions there were willful—not inadvertent—because the employer was aware at the time of payment that an employee was being paid something less than the full amount owed. Id. The Court further observed that "[t]he concept of carelessness or inadvertence suggests errors in bookkeeping or other conduct of an accidental character." Id. Even with significant civil and possible criminal penalties in the balance, this Court stopped short of requiring "full awareness" of the exact amount of underpayment or a desire on the part of the employer to bring it about. *See id.; see also Brandt v. Impero*, 1 Wn. App. 678, 681, 463 P.2d 197 (1969).

In contrast, this Court has required specific intent where it was clearly established by the plain text. For instance, RCW 51.24.020 provides that an employee has a cause of action for workplace injuries that result from "the deliberate intention of his or her employer to produce such injury." This Court held that "by the words 'deliberate intention to produce the injury' that the lawmakers meant to imply that the employer must have determined to injure an employee and used some means appropriate to that end; that there must be a specific intent . . . . " Birklidv. Boeing Co., 127 Wn.2d 853, 860, 904 P.2d 278 (1995). No such language exists in WAC 296-126-030 to suggest that the Department intended to create a requirement that an employer must have *intended* to overpay particular employees by particular amounts.

Further, by suggesting that MultiCare's error can be deemed "inadvertent" because it "did not know what the actual correct pay for any employee was," the panel's opinion will have the perverse effect of encouraging employers to be careless in processing pay. Op. at p. 15. This Court has recognized that employers' statutory obligations should not be interpreted in a way that incentivizes employers to undermine employees' statutory rights. For instance, in Washington State Nurses Ass'n v. Sacred Heart Medical Center, this Court found that missed rest periods must be treated as additional "hours worked" for purposes of overtime pay, in part because to do otherwise would mean that the employer "would be incentivized to employ fewer nurses for each shift, relying on those nurses to bear a heavy burden on busy days." 175 Wn.2d 822, 832, 287 P.3d 516 (2012). See also Brandt, 1 Wn. App. at 680 (employer's underpayment was willful where employer claimed uncertainty as to the wages due and "made no genuine effort to keep a proper record of their payroll . . . or determine by audit the correct amount of the wages

owing"). An employer that fails to fulfill its duty to maintain records that allow employees to be paid correctly should not be rewarded by being allowed to make overpayment recoupments.

## C. Division One erred in construing "infrequent" in an overbroad manner.

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