FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/22/2023 1:10 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1024843

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE NURSES ASSOCIATION, UFCW 3000 and SEIU HEALTHCARE 1199NW, on behalf of certain of the employees they represent,

Respondent,

v.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEMS,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TIMOTHY J. O'CONNELL Bar No. 15372 tim.oconnell@stoel.com AARON R. DOYER Bar No. 60095 aaron.doyer@stoel.com STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: 206.624.0900 Facsimile: 206.386.7500 Attorney for Appellant

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Review is Not Justified Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2)

The Unions would be indisputably wrong to assert this case is subject to review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) (appellate decision in conflict with Supreme Court decision) and (b)(2) (appellate decision in conflict with appellate decision). The Unions concede in the first sentence of their Petition that this

case is a "matter of first impression." Petition at 1. The parties agree that there is no preexisting case for the appellate court's decision to "conflict" with. There can be no conflict between the Opinion and a previous decision of some other court, as is addressed by RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2),⁵ if there is no such previous decision.

B. No Grounds Exist for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

This Court may, in its discretion, grant review where a case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Unions do not seriously argue that this case is one that is both of substantial interest to the public and one which merits Supreme Court review. Instead, they set forth reasons why they disagree with the Opinion. But this Court does not take up review simply because a petitioner is unhappy with the appellate court's opinion. *See, e.g., In re Flippo*, 185 Wn. 2d

⁵ The Unions do not assert grounds under 13.4(b)(3) (constitutional question) which is also not applicable in this case.

1032, (Mem)–414 (2016) ("To obtain discretionary review in this court, [petitioner] <u>must</u> demonstrate . . . an issue of substantial public interest.") (emphasis added); *In re Combs*, 182 Wn. 2d 1015 (2015).

The Unions only argument under RAP 13.4(b)(4) seems to be that this "case has the potential to have far-reaching consequences for employees because it is the only case in which a court has interpreted the regulation." Petition at 1. But the Unions do not explain why being a case of first impression automatically generates a substantial public interest. Without more, that status says nothing about the significance, or lack thereof, to the public. The Court of Appeals' analysis should not be second guessed, and this Court's resources invoked, simply because it is the "only decision" on the matter.

The Court of Appeals also issued the *right* decision. It interpreted WAC 296-126-030 using the plain text meanings of its language. While the Unions would prefer that the court had adopted their policy arguments to construe the regulation

instead, there is no reason for this Court to disturb the Court of Appeals' decision, which applies plain text interpretation of unambiguous language.

C. WAC 296-126-030 is Not Susceptible to the Unions' "Policy" Argument for a "Liberal Construction"

The Unions ask the Court to overrule the Opinion and adopt their policy arguments for a "liberal construction" of WAC 296-126-030. But the Court of Appeals was correct in its determination that the plain language of the regulation "means what it says." See Dot Foods, Inc. v. Washington Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn. 2d 912, 919 (2009) ("Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, we ascertain the meaning of the statute solely from its language."); Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Airport Inv. Co., 186 Wn. 2d 336, 346 (2016) ("If the language is unambiguous, we give effect to that language and that language alone because we presume the legislature says what it means and means what it says."). As a matter of law, there is no need to resort to statutory rules of construction when the regulation's meaning is clear on its face.

See HomeStreet, Inc. v. State, Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn. 2d 444, 451 (2009) ("If the plain language is subject to only one interpretation, our inquiry ends because plain language does not require construction.").

Regulations are interpreted in the same way as statutes.

Durant v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 191 Wn. 2d 1, 8

(2018). The court "construes the act as a whole, giving effect to all of the language used. If a regulation is unambiguous, intent can be determined from the language alone, and the court will not look beyond the plain meaning of the words of the regulation." Id.

WAC 296-126-030 is "clear on its face" and thus it "is not subject to judicial construction." *State v. J.M.*, 144 Wn.2d 472, 480 (2001). The Unions themselves have argued for the court to interpret the regulation by its plain language. *See, e.g.*, CP 598–600 (arguing MultiCare did not meet plain language definitions under the regulation); CP 579 ("by its plain language, the regulation supersedes collective bargaining

agreements with terms related to overpayments."); CP 563 (arguing court should not permit "deflect[ion] from the plain language of the rule"). Now they ask the Court to adopt a liberal construction of the regulation because other unrelated statutes, they argue, have been "liberally enforced" by other courts. Petition at 10. They argue that "exceptions to these statutes must be narrowly confined." *Id.* at 12.

However, if it is the case that any liberal enforcement scheme relating to 49.48 RCW and 49.52 RCW exists for deductions from wages, it is not relevant to this dispute which regards adjustments for *overpayments* under 49.12 RCW, the sole chapter under which WAC 296-126-030 derives its authority. 49.12 RCW does not contain any language from the legislature instructing courts to enforce it "liberally."

Nonetheless, the Unions present to the Court a parade of horribles: if this Court endorses the Court of Appeals' interpretation, then employers would supposedly start routinely

paying employees inaccurately, with the attendant bad results.⁶ Petition at 14.

The Unions neither cite record evidence nor persuasively explain why employers would engage in such illogical behavior. There is no rational motivation for an employer to knowingly pay an employee an inaccurate amount as part of a scheme to recoup it later. If anything, the sole reference the Unions supply to support such a concern—a claim in a Bill Report from 2003 that 1,200 state employees were overpaid that year, *id.*—proves the reverse. Notwithstanding the concerns over adjusting overpayments, the legislation adopted there *allows* the public employer to make wage adjustments to recover overpayments! Ch. 77 Laws 2003, codified at RCW 49.48.200 and .210.7

_

⁶ The Court must consider all of these supposedly "harsh" results with the skepticism mandated by the undisputed facts: *most* of the declarants offered by the Union in support of their motion admit that they *knew at the time* they were being overpaid. CP 228, 241, 262, 282, 292. There is nothing harsh about being expect to return money you know you have not earned

⁷ The Unions may not be heard to complain that those statutes provide for further review of potential wage adjustments. The decision to allow such

Moreover, a plan of intentionally paying inaccurately is equally likely to result to the employer's detriment if the inaccuracy results in an *underpayment*. Indeed, it is undisputed that was the result here; some MultiCare employees were underpaid by the advances, but MultiCare made those employees whole by promptly paying the correct amount as soon as possible, along with interest at the otherwise usurious pre-judgment rate. CP 307–08.

Next, the Unions cite *Schilling*'s comment that RCW 49.52.050 protects against, in part, "false showing of overpayment of any part of such wages." *Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc.*, 136 Wn.2d 152, 159 (1998); Petition at 10–11. But the Unions have repeatedly argued on remand from the federal court that the sole issue in this case is the method that

additional procedure for the employees of public employers but not of private employers was a conscious choice. WAC 296-126-030(10). The determination of the appropriate standards, conditions and hours of labor under the Industrial Welfare Act is for the Director of the Department of Labor & Industries, not for the Unions nor this Court. RCW 49.12.091. The Union's disagreement with the policy decisions of the Department certainly does not establish a substantial public interest in overriding that policy determination.

MultiCare used to recoup payments, not whether it "falsely" claimed overpayments were due.⁸ Indeed, the entire case is based on the fact that both parties agree MultiCare *did* make overpayments. If a false showing was at issue in this case, then the Unions would apparently be arguing instead that there were no overpayments. That would present a fundamentally different case than the one here.

The Unions' attempts to draw authority from *Brandt v*. *Impero*, Wn. App. 678, 681, (1969), *Washington State Nurses Association v. Sacred Heart Medical Center*, 175 Wn.2d 822, 832 (2012), and *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 853, 860 (1995), are also not persuasive. Those cases each dealt with *deductions*, not *overpayments*. The Unions fail to acknowledge that an underpayment or unlawful deduction fails to pay an

_

⁸ Nor did the Unions argue that MultiCare failed to satisfy the notice requirements of WAC 296-126-030. Rather, they expressly conceded that it did. CP 559 fn. 1. Further, the Unions and the courts below have been adamant that this case is not about disputed *amounts* of the overpayments, but the overpayments themselves. If the public interest in this case is derived from disputed *amounts* of pay, then as MultiCare has argued all along, this case is federally preempted under the doctrine of *San Diego Building Trades Council v. Garmon*, 359 U.S. 236, 245 (1959).

employee for the full wage they lawfully earned, while an adjustment for an overpayment does not reduce the employee's total pay below the amount they lawfully earned. WAC 296-126-030. Regardless, even if the Court of Appeals had erred by considering a "liberal construction" of the regulation as the Unions argued it should, it would have no cause to adopt an argument based on cases where workers were underpaid. That is not the situation here, where employees were overpaid, and there is—according to the Unions—no dispute as to the accuracy of the overpayment amounts recorded by MultiCare. See Opinion, 535 P.3d at 483 fn. 3 ("specific questions about MultiCare's calculation of individual employee's paychecks (e.g., whether, how much, or how frequently it made overpayments) are unrelated to the issue of whether MultiCare complied with, or may avail itself of, WAC 296-126-030."). Regardless, the holdings in these cases have no application here.

For example, in *Brandt*, the court found that an employer's underpayments were caused by its having made "no genuine effort" to keep proper records or "determine by audit the correct amount of wages." 1 Wn. App. at 680–81. Citing *Brandt*, the Unions raise for the first time the argument that MultiCare should not be "rewarded by being allowed to make overpayment recoupments" when it violated a "duty" to "maintain records that allow an employee to be paid correctly." Petition at 20.

But *Brandt* is inapposite here. The employer there underpaid an employee for nearly three years. 1 Wn. App. at 680. It kept no records of the employee's payroll account for those years and even went so far as to file false tax records overstating the employees' wages for the majority of that time. *Id.* at 680–81. Conversely, the undisputed facts show MultiCare made a significant effort to keep its nearly 20,000 employees paid correctly every two weeks, and that it used TimeStamp during the Kronos hack to create *accurate payroll records* for

all of its employees to be reconciled after the outage. CP 306–07, 522.

The issue here is not about the accuracy of payroll records; thus, *Brandt* is inapplicable because MultiCare was *incapable* of calculating employees' pay even with the TimeStamp records. As the Court of Appeals correctly found, "MultiCare adduced evidence that, due to its sheer size, it was not feasible to . . . manually compute each employee's complicated pay schedule for each employee for each period." *WSNA v. MultiCare*, 535 P.3d at 488. From this, it wrote, "a reasonable juror could find that MultiCare did not know what the actual correct pay for any employee was, particularly with respect to a category of casual employees." *Id*.

Furthermore, the Unions beg the question by asserting that MultiCare's use of WAC 296-126-030 will excuse it from its duties under other statutes, such as the one at issue in *Brandt*—49.52 RCW. The Unions have not articulated how MultiCare's use of WAC 296-126-030 will undermine any

employees' rights under 49.52 RCW, beyond their repeated legal conclusion that an overpayment adjustment is an unlawful deduction. But as the Unions have also conceded multiple times, an adjustment for an overpayment is not an unlawful deduction unless the overpayments were not infrequent and not inadvertent. See, e.g., CP 559. The Opinion held that a material issue of facts exists as to whether MultiCare met those requirements. 535 P.3d at 487–88. The Unions cannot jump to the conclusion that MultiCare's use of WAC 296-126-030 violates the statutory rights of its employees before it has been determined whether its recoupments met the requirements of the regulation. The Unions take this tact so that they may inaccurately portray this case as one about *deductions* under 49.52 RCW, when it is about adjustments under 49.12 RCW.

To the extent the Unions' assertion in this regard is part of its newly raised argument that "given the strict prohibition on unauthorized wage deductions, it is unclear whether the Department's adoption of WAC 296-126-030 is permissible at

all," the court should not entertain it. Petition 12–13 fn. 1. The Unions never argued below that WAC 296-126-030 is an invalid regulation. See, e.g., CP 559. This argument fails regardless, as RCW 49.12.091 specifically grants the Director of Labor and Industries broad authority under that chapter (wherefrom WAC 296-126-030 draws its sole authority) "to prescribe rules and regulations fixing standards, conditions and hours of labor. . ." that have the force of law. WAC 296-126-030 is a valid regulation controlling this dispute and the Unions cannot now, for the first time, raise the argument that its promulgation was "impermissible." Parties may not advance entirely new issues before this Court. Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 146 Wn. 2d 841, 853 (2002).

In that vein the Unions also resurrect *Cameron v. Neon*Sky, Inc. again, a case the Court of Appeals aptly ignored as it is irrelevant to this dispute and abrogated by the promulgation of

⁹ One will search in vain, through all of the Unions' briefing below, for a single reference to any argument that WAC 296-126-030 is invalid. They half-heartedly raise it now in the form of a footnote.

WAC 296.126.030. *Cameron* dealt with claims under 49.48 RCW and 49.52 RCW. 41 Wn. App. 219, 219 (1985). Though the case spoke of "overpayments," the analysis was focused on fraudulent excessive paychecks that a restaurant manager, who also controlled payroll, had been making out to himself. *Id.* at 221. Both the facts and the statutory background of that case are inapplicable here, and the opinion itself predates the promulgation of WAC 296-126-030 by some 20 years.

D. The Opinion's Interpretation of "Inadvertent" Is Correct.

Disagreeing with the appellate court's interpretation of "inadvertent" under WAC 296-126-030(4), the Unions offer *Birklid*, where this Court found that RCW 51.24.020 provides a workplace injury cause of action when an employer acts with "deliberate intention to produce [an] injury." 127 Wn.2d at 860. That language, the Unions assert, imparted a "plain text" requirement of finding "specific intent" on the part of the employer in order for an employee to avail themselves of statute. The Unions then apparently attempt to contrast the

instant case, arguing that "[n]o such language exists in WAC 296-126-030 to suggest that the Department intended to create a requirement that an employer must have *intended* to overpay particular employees by particular amounts." Petition at 18 (emphasis in original).

This argument is meritless, given that the definition of inadvertent in WAC 296-126-030(4) explains that the overpayments must be either "accidental, unintentional, or not deliberately done." (emphasis added). Thus, deliberation and intentionality are expressly included in the definition of inadvertent in the regulation. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals, in applying the plain dictionary definition, found that "deliberate" meant "full awareness of what one is doing: in a way that is intended or planned." Opinion, 535 P.3d at 488 (emphasis added). Intentionality is clearly one dispositive factor in determining inadvertence under the regulation.

The Unions attempt to isolate intentionality from the remaining language of WAC 296-126-030. They also

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